### **Appeal No. 22-CV-303**

### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

KEISHA STALEY, et al.

Clerk of the Court Received 09/19/2022 06:57 PM Filed 09/19/2022 06:57 PM

Appellants,

v.

2021 CAB 3930

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, et al.

Appellees.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Action Number 2021 CA 003930 B

(Judge Hiram E. Puig-Lugo, D.C. Superior Court)

### **APPELLANTS' BRIEF**

# /s/Johnny Barnes

Johnny Barnes, D.C. Bar Number 212985

Counsel for Appellants
301 "G" Street, S.W - Suite B101

Washington, D.C. 20024

AttorneyJB7@gmail.com

Telephone (202) 882-2828

**Dated:** 19 September 2022

#### THE PARTIES

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellees have blatantly and continuously ignored the Law. The Supreme Court has not tolerated such behavior, especially when it comes to the Environment

This is an appeal from a Trial Court's Grant of a Motion to Dismiss. Review by this Court is therefore *de novo*. The Trial Court examined the actions of Agencies of the District of Columbia Government and should have considered the abuse of discretion by those Agencies and the clear error in their actions and inactions. Courts, including the United States Supreme Court, have halted the construction of a Dam, nearly completed construction, costing \$150 million, to save the snail darter, a fish facing extinction; ruling that the construction of the Dam was a *prima facie* violation of the Environmental Species Act (ESA). That Federal



Court of Appeals deferred to the plain language of the ESA, *Hiram Hill v. Tennes-see Valley Authority*, 549 F.2d 1064, 1069 (CA6 1977); The United States Supreme Court affirmed the Court of Appeals Decision by a vote of 6 to 3, *Tennessee Valley Authority v. Hiram Hill et al.*, 437 U.S. 153 (1978)<sup>1</sup>. Similarly, a \$44 million road project was halted in San Antonio, Texas to save endangered, eyeless spiders, known as the Bracken Bat Cave Mesh weaver.

Surely, this \$20 million, proposed Bus Depot in a residential neighborhood, the subject of the instant matter, can be halted in the Brentwood Community of Washington, D.C. to spare the health, safety and perhaps lives of these besieged citizens, especially, inasmuch as, like the Tennessee Valley Authority, the District of Columbia's Office of the State Superintendent of Education (OSSE) and other District Agencies, even though expressly asked, have ignored countless laws in its "Bull in the China Shop" path to push through this ill-conceived proposal.

**Even without the proposed Bus Depot**, unlike those who live in all other neighborhoods in the District of Columbia, those who live in Brentwood, **due to** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the Federal District Court level, in advance of the appeal to the Federal Court of Appeals, local citizens and conservation groups sued in the District Court, claiming that the project did not conform to the requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA), 42 U.S.C. § 4321 *et seq.* After finding TVA to be in violation of NEPA, the District Court too enjoined the Dam's completion pending the filing of an appropriate Environmental Impact Statement. *Environmental Defense Fund v. TVA*, 339 F. Supp. 806 (ED Tenn.), aff'd, 468 F.2d 1164 (CA6 1972). The Dam was built, only because Congress eventually passed a rider on an appropriations bill that exempted the Tellico Dam from the ESA. Construction was completed in 1979, but *TVA v. Hill* is nonetheless considered a conservation success in that it demonstrated the courts' willingness to enforce the ESA.

existing, suffocating industrial pollution, are more likely to be afflicted with severe asthma, respiratory illness, cancer, lung disease, heart ailments, premature deaths and premature births, as well as other related health challenges, than in any other place in Washington, D.C. Aggregate those health challenges by the invasion of the COVID Pandemic and the situation is horrifying!

Since the 1950s --- when, due to a Court Decision eliminating restrictive covenants and the Brentwood Neighborhood in Washington, D.C. shifted from all White to mostly Black --- half of the toxic facilities in the District of Columbia (50%) have been located, by Appellees, in one voting area, known as Ward Five. The remedy for that disparate impact and disparate treatment is to equalize where toxic facilities are located; move some out of Ward Five and into the other seven Wards of the District of Columbia. The placement of these toxic facilities in the Brentwood only began after Whites moved out and Blacks moved in. None of such facilities are in the White voting areas of Washington, D.C.

According to the Expert, Sarah Jane Shoenfeld, who has singularly mapped segregation in Washington, D.C.<sup>2</sup> and who certified under oath that, in the 1950s,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ms. Shoenfeld is a Historian and serves as the Principal for Prologue D.C. Her complete Vita is annexed. The Vita of Ms. Schoenfeld and the Fourteen Experts who signed two Letters to Appellee Bowser, expressing their strong concern with going forward with the Bus Depot and the basis of their concern is included in the Joint Appendix at pages 51 to 88.

most of the area south of "W" Street, N.E. --- the Street on which the Bus Depot is proposed --- remained undeveloped and owned by the Real Estate & Improvement Co. of Baltimore. This area had been reserved for non-industrial development until the area began to be Black occupied over the course of this decade. In 1958, the area became zoned for heavy/general industrial use below "W" Street and for light manufacturing from about 15th St East to Montana Avenue, directly across "W" Street, upon which Black occupied public housing (Montana Terrace) would be built just a decade later. By 1970, the blocks north of "W" Street were more than 90% Black-occupied. Black households continue to make up most households along the blocks north of "W" Street.<sup>3</sup>

The D.C. Human Rights Act Protects Residency, Where One Lives, and Race, who one is, as a Class. Enacted by the D.C. Council with the intention "...to secure an end in the District of Columbia to discrimination for any reason other than that of individual merit ..." It is a broad remedial statute, to be generously construed, *Wallace v. Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom*, 715 A.2d 873, 889 (D.C. 1998); *Simpson v. District of Columbia Office of Human Rights*, 597 A.2d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Brentwood Mapping Graph created by Ms. Schoenfeld and found at pages 132 to 135 of the Joint Appendix, dramatically demonstrates this disparate and discriminatory history.

392, 398 (D.C. 1991). The Courts have described the Act as a "powerful, flexible, and far-reaching prohibition against discrimination of many kinds," *Executive Sandwich Shoppe, Inc. v. Carr Realty Corp.*, 749 A.2d 724, 732 (D.C. 2000). While violating the Human Rights Act, Appellees have ignored countless other laws and regulations, including the D.C. Environmental Policy Act. The Court's *Tennessee Valley Authority Case* does not tolerate such misdeeds.

#### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The District of Columbia Department of Energy & Environment --- the very Agency tasked with protecting the District's Environment --- District of Columbia Mayor, Muriel Elizabeth Bowser, the District of Columbia Department of General Services, the District of Columbia Office of the State Superintendent of Education, and even the District of Columbia's Office of Attorney General, have all proposed, supported and sought to implement a commercial Bus Depot in the Brentwood Residential Neighborhood, in direct contravention to applicable laws and regulations. The Bus Depot, if erected and put in use, will house 250 buses and 500 personnel, most of whom will drive into an already congested community and park their cars on already congested streets. These buses will begin operating at 4:00 a.m., in the morning, when most Brentwood Residents are yet asleep.

Without proper permitting, according to their own Attorneys, --- the District of Columbia Office of Attorney General --- Appellees began construction of the proposed Bus Depot on 21 December 2021. The backdrop to that start day is shockingly revealing.

Two years earlier, on 1 November 2019, Mr. Wayne Gore with the D.C. Department of General Services stated in an email:

"In preparation for the project, the A/E team conducted an environmental impact study for internal use. As part of the building permit process, all applicants are required to submit an Environmental Intake Form (EIF) with their application to determine if an Environmental Impact Screening (EIS) is required. If an Environmental Impact Screening is required, an interagency review team will look over the applicants' Environmental Impact Screening Form (EISF) and make a determination." (Emphasis supplied)

A number of exchanges between Appellees, including Mr. Gore and the residents of Brentwood, can be found in the Joitn Appendix, at pages 110 to 120. **That process, outlined by Mr. Gore, was not followed**. As indicated, construction began on 21 December 2021, and demolition began long before that date. **For the first time, on 4 February 2022, the D.C. Department of General Services submitted an Environmental Impact Screening Form (EISF)**. The EISF can be found at pages 92 to 104 of the Joint Appendix. Indeed, two Paragraphs in that very recently revealed EISF are shocking:

#### D. UNAVOIDABLE IMPACTS

The site has been confirmed to contain elevated levels of volatile organic compounds in select areas as outlined in the Environmental Site Assessment. Furthermore, seven (7) subgrades,

abandoned tanks are confirmed to be within the property area. **Both soil remediation and tank removal [will] be required for this project**.

#### E. MITIGATION STEPS

All disturbed soil which has been confirmed to be contaminated with petroleum shall be remediated and backfilled as required by DOEE. Any tanks found within the building footprint are to be removed or abandoned in-place in compliance [with] all regulatory codes. Positive drainage shall be provided throughout the site in conjunction with designated bio-retention areas as outlined on the site plan attachments.

This is irrefutable PROOF that Appellees did not follow the D.C. Environmental Policy Act when siting the Brentwood Bus Depot! They are only now issuing an Environmental Impact Screening Form – the very first step in the process.

Moreover, the documents reveal the site is HIGHLY CONTAMINATED.

Then, just three weeks later, on 23 February 2022, the EISF Coordinator sent the following Memorandum to the Interagency Review Team: Attached is the EISF

application for the subject project. Please complete an environmental assessment for your respective areas and return it to me by **March 4, 2022**. Please call me at 535-2506, should you have any questions.

1. Project: 1601 West Street, NE Bus Terminal

2. Location: 1601 West Street, NE

EISF #: 00-0958

The EISF application was verified on 15 February 2022, by Mr. Jalloh Mohamed, under criminal penalty if there were any false statements. The application contained a construction start date of April 2020, and an operational date of 31 August 2022.

Then on 25 February 2022, the D.C. Department of Energy and Environment sent the following to the affected Advisory Neighborhood Commissioners:

From: Zangrilli, Jacob (DOEE) < jacob.zangrilli@dc.gov>

**Sent:** Friday, February 25, 2022 11:09 AM

To: Brevard, Gail (SMD 5C01) <5C01@anc.dc.gov>; Rogers, Lauren (SMD

5C02) <<u>5C02@anc.dc.gov</u>>; Manning, Jacqueline (SMD 5C04)

<<u>5C04@anc.dc.gov</u>>; Oliver, Darlene (SMD 5C05) <<u>5C05@anc.dc.gov</u>>; Thomas

III, Harry (SMD 5C06) < 5C06@anc.dc.gov >; Montague Jr., Jeremiah (SMD

5C07) < 5C07@anc.dc.gov>

Cc: Criner-Brown, Allyson (DOEE) < allyson.criner-brown@dc.gov >; Bullo, Ibra-

him (DOEE) < <u>ibrahim.bullo@dc.gov</u>>

**Subject:** ANC 5C Notification - EISF -1601 West St NE (OSSE Bus Terminal) Good Morning ANC 5C [The Brentwood Location]. This week DOEE received an Environmental Impact Screening Form for the OSSE Bus Terminal Project at 1601 W Street NE. **The demographics of the project area, and the intended** 

final use of the site, warrant increased community notification, participation, and feedback. To that end, I am providing you all with the EISF submission, existing site plans, proposed site plans, and EISF project summary. (Emphasis supplied)

Please note that the EISF is currently under DOEE review. This e-mail is for awareness and to establish a line of communication with the community. Please let me know if you have any questions and I will try to answer them to the best of my ability or put you in contact with the appropriate person. Respectfully,

#### Jacob Zangrilli

Environmental Protection Specialist
Office of Enforcement and Environmental Justice
Department of Energy & Environment
Government of the District of Columbia
1200 First St., NE 7th Floor
Washington, DC 20002

Desk: 202-535-2645 Cell: 202-497-4351

Notably, Mr. Zangrilli's statement, "The demographics of the project area, and the intended final use of the site, warrant increased community notification, participation, and feedback. To that end, I am providing you all with the EISF submission, existing site plans, proposed site plans, and EISF project summary," underscores the failings of Appellees in following the ANC Laws.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>4</sup> <u>Note</u> - Under the Rules of Evidence, a declaration against interest is defined as a statement made by a declarant who is unavailable that is against the declarant's pecuniary, proprietary, or penal interest when it was made. A statement against interest is admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule. Similarly, an Admission against Interest is an out-of-court statement by a party that, when uttered, is against the party's pecuniary, proprietary, or penal interest and that is admissible under

### Appellees have blatantly ignored Equal Treatment of Brentwood

More than half of the Industrial Facilities in the District of Columbia plague just one of eight wards, Ward Five, where the Brentwood Community is located. The cumulative effects of this disproportionate, disparate, and discriminatory placement of Industrial Facilities are long term and compounded. Now, the Appellees want to put a Bus Terminal in the heart of this residential neighborhood, with 250 buses, 500 employees who drive to work and occupy the limited neighborhood parking spaces, a fueling station and a training facility for bus drivers. The Facility would be placed at the vortex of Montana Avenue and "W" Street, one block from New York Avenue and the Amtrak Yard where trains assemble. In addition, nearby is diesel spewing snowplows, salt trucks, limousine buses and other trucks

both an exclusion and an exception to the rule against hearsay. Such a statement is admissible even if the declarant is available, because an admission by a party-opponent is non-hearsay and, thus, does not require unavailability, *On Lee v. U.S.*, 343 U.S. 747 (1952). In D.C., the party seeking to admit evidence under this exception must satisfy four conditions. First, the proponent must prove that the declarant is unavailable. The declarant might be refusing to testify, *Laumer v. United States*, 409 A.2d 190,199-200 (D.C. 1979) (*en banc*). Second, corroborating circumstances must clearly indicate the trustworthiness of the statement. The court might consider, for example, the time of the declaration and the party to whom it was made; the existing of corroborating evidence; and the extent to which the declaration is really against the declarant's interests. *See United States v. Edelen*, 996 F.2d 1238, 1242 (D.C. Cir. 1993). Third, the proponent must prove that the declarant knew when making the statement that it was against his or her interest. Finally, the proponent must demonstrate that the statement was against the declarant's proprietary, pecuniary, or penal interest, *Id.* at 196. Each prong of this Test is here met

and buses on at least 10 acres of land owned by the District Government and within breathing distance of its Brentwood residents. Worse, already in the Neighborhood is the Brentwood Solid Waste Disposal Facility, located at 1241 "W" Street, N.E.; the DPW Solid Waste Collection Division, the DDOT Street and Bridge Maintenance Division, located at 1531 "W" Street, N.E.; next to the Capitol Paving of D.C. Construction Company, located at 1525 "W" Street, N.E.; the Federal IPC Transfer (the recycling center), located at 1220 "W" Street, N.E.; and the Fort Meyer Construction Company, located at 1155 "W" Street, N.E. Dramatic Photos of all of these toxic facilities, each within a stone's throw of the homes of Plaintiffs and hundreds of other Brentwood Residents is Page Ninety-One of the Joint Appendix.

The Community of Brentwood is adjacent to the Community of Ivy City. Because of previous actions by Appellees, 1) Ivy City is already surrounded by hundreds of diesel-fueled school buses on both sides of Kendall Street, just a short walk from residences; 2) it is currently surrounded by hundreds of diesel-spewing snow and salt trucks; 3) at least a hundred diesel-spewing limousine buses are at the edge of Ivy City; 4) various other diesel-spewing buses and two and a quarter ton trucks park on several streets of Ivy City, without control or regulation by the District Government; and 5) hundreds of automobiles park in and near and along every street in

Ivy City several nights a week to patronize the City Winery Nightclub, just a short walk from homes in that Community. Vehicles, numbering in the hundreds, typically idle in Ivy City, especially in wintry or frigid conditions, including the very harmful diesel-spewing trucks, buses or equipment.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Like a bull, rumbling through a China Shop Appellees have sought to construct this Bus Depot in a residential neighborhood, 1) without complying with the provisions of the D.C. Environmental Policy Act; 2) without producing an Environmental Impact Statement, as required by law for this project; 3) without satisfying the Advisory Neighborhood Commission Act and other statutory mandates; 4) while claiming that residents of Brentwood lacked standing to bring this lawsuit; and 5) while discriminating against Appellants and other residents of the Brentwood Community due to characteristics that are protected by the D.C. Human Rights Act and various Federal Laws.

Because of these actions and inactions by Appellees, the effort by Appellants to secure Injunctive Relief and thereby preserve the status quo should have been met with favor by the Trial Court. It was not. The Standard of Review of a Trial Court's Decision, when evidence is adduced is Clear Error. Such error is clearly present here.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### Standard of Review - This Court Reviews de novo Grants of a Motion to Dismiss

In evaluating a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the Court must "treat the complaint's factual allegations as true and must grant plaintiff the benefit of all inferences that can be derived from the facts alleged. The United States Supreme Court has stated that the plaintiff must allege a "plausible entitlement to relief" by setting forth "a set of facts consistent with the allegations. Appellant did that below. This Honorable Court has established that it will review *de novo* the dismissal of a complaint under D.C. Superior Court Civil Rule 12 (b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, *Potomac Dev. Corp. v. District of Columbia*, 28 A.3d 531, 543 (D.C. 2011); *Grayson v. AT&T Corp.*, 15 A.3d 219, 228 (D.C. 2011) (*en banc*); *Chamberlain v. Am. Honda Fin. Corp.*, 931 A.2d 1018, 1022–23 (D.C.2007).

### Appellees and the Trial Court ignored the powerful views of fourteen experts

At the outset, it should be noted that fourteen unbiased experts who did preliminary analysis of the impact of the proposed Bus Depot stated in a Letter to Appellee, Mayor Bowser<sup>5</sup>, "The bus terminal will add these traffic-related risks to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A complete copy of that Letter is made a part of The Joint Appendix, as part of the Exhibits submitted with the Complaint, at pages 44 to 40. In addition, the Vitae of the Fourteen Experts who signed a Letter to Appellee Bowser, expressing their

a community whose existing health inequity has been outlined in the 2018 Health Equity Report. Out of the fifty-one proximal neighborhood groups, Brentwood ranked high in deaths due to illnesses and health outcomes for which air pollution contributes to higher risk.

- 11th in deaths due to heart disease
- 13th in deaths due to chronic lower respiratory disease
- 15th in deaths due to strokes
- 16th for lowest life expectancy at birth
- 17th in deaths due to diabetes

The most recent District of Columbia Health Equity Report referred to by the Experts and led by Dr. LaQuandra Nesbitt who currently serves as the Director of the District of Columbia's Department of Health, in and of itself is riveting, revealing, alarming and most disturbing. Drawing from that Report and other sources, that elite group of scientists and environmental educators have issued a word of caution to Defendants on the adverse conditions that would result from still another toxic and congestion causing facility in Brentwood. Their conclusions include:

- Health impacts of school bus pollution
- Cumulative health impacts of multiple concentrated pollution sources
- Traffic studies, congestion, parking and other deleterious and destructive harms
- The further degradation of air quality
- · Prevalence of asthma and other respiratory illness in the affected community

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