No. 22-CV-303

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court
Received 12/15/2022 09:26 PM
Filed 12/15/2022 09:26 PM

KEISHA STALEY, *et al.*,
APPELLANTS,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, *et al.*,
APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR APPELLEES

KARL A. RACINE
Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE
Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK
Principal Deputy Solicitor General

GRAHAM E. PHILLIPS
Deputy Solicitor General

*JEREMY R. GIRTON
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Solicitor General

Office of the Attorney General
400 6th Street, NW, Suite 8100
Washington, D.C. 20001

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

Appellants have not identified any “serious environmental impact” that has been overlooked that could affect them personally. As discussed *supra* at 19-26 and *infra* at 31-36, appellants have not alleged that the terminal creates a risk of any particular harm to the environment. Moreover, appellants have not explained how any environmental effects the project might create could affect *them* in a concrete, personal way. They have never asserted any sort of aesthetic interest of the type discussed in *Friends of Tilden Park*. Appellants do not contend, for instance, that they recreate in or near 1601 W Street NE, which was previously a collection of abandoned warehouses and parking lots. *See* JA 151, 158-59, 169-70. And although appellants live approximately half a mile from the proposed terminal, they have raised only hypothetical concerns about the environment, making it far from clear that they are likely to suffer any “environmental consequences” from the project. *Friends of Tilden Park*, 806 A.2d at 1208. They accordingly have failed to demonstrate standing, and the Superior Court’s dismissal of their claims should be affirmed.

II. Alternatively, The Court Should Affirm Because The Complaint Fails To State A Claim Upon Which Relief Could Be Granted.

Even if appellants have standing, the Court should affirm dismissal on the alternate ground that the complaint fails to state a claim under any legal theory. This Court “‘may affirm a judgment on any valid ground, even if that ground was not relied upon by the trial judge or raised or considered in the trial court,’ so long as

doing so would not be procedurally unfair.” *Logan v. LaSalle Bank Nat’l Ass’n*, 80 A.3d 1014, 1020-21 (D.C. 2013) (quoting *Pietrangelo v. Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale & Dorr, LLP*, 68 A.3d 697, 711 n.10 (D.C. 2013)); *see, e.g., Floyd v. Bank of Am. Corp.*, 70 A.3d 246, 250-57 (D.C. 2013) (disagreeing with trial court’s dismissal for lack of standing but affirming based on failure to state a claim). Affirming the Superior Court’s dismissal based on appellants’ failure to state a claim would work no procedural unfairness because appellants had the opportunity to—and did—brief the issues both below and in their opening brief to this Court. *See* Br. 21-33, 41-49 (arguing legal sufficiency of their claims).

A. Appellants fail to allege a violation of the DCEPA.

Appellants contend that the construction of the new terminal violates the DCEPA because no EIS was prepared as part of the permitting process. Br. 27-28. However, the DCEPA requires preparation of an EIS only for a “major action that is *likely* to have *substantial* negative impact on the environment.” D.C. Code § 8-109.03(a) (emphases added). Appellants have not plausibly alleged that the new terminal triggers this requirement, so they have not alleged a DCEPA violation.

The DCEPA establishes a multi-step process for evaluating the environmental impact of a proposed development project. First, if a major action “may” have a “significant” impact on the environment, an EISF is required. 20 DCMR § 7201.1. The governing regulations identify sixteen types of risks that could trigger an EISF.

20 DCMR § 7201.2. The reviewing agency will then evaluate the EISF to determine whether the project is “*likely* to have *substantial* negative impact on the environment” and thus requires a full EIS. 20 DCMR § 7205.1 (emphases added). If the reviewing agency determines that an EIS is required, it will publish that determination. 20 DCMR § 7205.4. The EIS will be subject to a public comment period, and under certain conditions, a public hearing. *See* 20 DCMR §§ 7208-7209. If the agency reviewing the EIS ultimately concludes that “the public health, safety, or welfare is imminently and substantially endangered,” the project may not proceed without mitigating measures. 20 DCMR § 7210.3.

Appellants have not alleged any facts showing that the proposed bus terminal is likely to have a substantial negative impact on the environment. The EISF that was prepared does not identify any significant environmental concerns. The air quality and traffic analyses that were prepared before the project was permitted did not find that the project was likely to have any significant impact on air quality or traffic congestion. *See supra* at 5-7. Appellants acknowledge those studies in the complaint but do not allege any facts that plausibly suggest the terminal’s impact on the environment is “likely” to be both “substantial” and “negative.” Accordingly, no EIS was required, and the decision to grant a construction permit without one was not “arbitrary, capricious, or otherwise an abuse of discretion and not in accordance

with the law.” *McCamey v. D.C. Dep’t of Emp. Servs.*, 947 A.2d 1191, 1196 (D.C. 2008) (en banc).

Appellants assert (at 23-26) that an “EJScreen Assessment” was “conducted by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency” and found that additional review was required for the bus terminal project, pointing to JA 105-07. But those pages of the appendix do not contain any analysis of the project performed by the EPA or anyone else. Instead, they contain a list of environmental indicators that can create environmental or health concerns, such as lead paint or proximity to a superfund site. Nowhere does this document purport to analyze the bus terminal project, much less conclude that any of these indicators are present.

Amicus Empower DC raises several arguments in support of the DCEPA claim, but all of them lack merit. First, Empower argues (at 14) that an action is “likely” to have a significant impact on the environment if it meets certain of the criteria listed in 20 DCMR § 7201.2, implying that these criteria trigger the EIS requirement. That is incorrect. The criteria listed in Section 7201.2 are those that “may” have a significant impact on the environment, which is why they trigger the requirement to prepare an *EISF*, not an EIS. The distinction between an *EISF* and an EIS is important. An *EISF* is merely a screening tool used to determine whether a project requires an EIS, and the threshold for when a project will require an EIS (“likely” to have a “substantial negative impact” on the environment) is much higher

than those that must go through the EISF screening process. Certainly not all projects that involve the use of gasoline-fueled vehicles will cross that threshold, since virtually any project that converts a vacant parcel of land to productive use will increase gasoline-powered vehicular traffic to some degree. *See Kingman Park Civic Ass'n v. Gray*, 27 F. Supp. 3d 171, 179 (D.D.C. 2014) (increased traffic congestion, standing alone, does not require an EIS), *aff'd*, 815 F.3d 36 (D.C. Cir. 2016). In short, Section 7201.2 has no relevance to this case, where it is undisputed that the District prepared an EISF.

Empower also argues (at 14) that the project “involves the use of petroleum, a hazardous substance,” and thus requires an EIS under 20 DCMR § 7201.4. Again, Section 7201 addresses projects that require an EISF (which has already been prepared), not an EIS. Moreover, the section only requires an EISF if the project involves “the use, production or disposal” of a hazardous substance “*in violation of* federal or District environmental regulations.” 20 DCMR § 7201.4(e) (emphasis added). Neither Empower nor appellants allege that the terminal would use, produce, or dispose of petroleum in violation of federal or District law, so this provision is inapplicable.

Empower contends (at 16) that the air quality analysis cited in the EISF was “inappropriately limited” because it did not evaluate other pollutants like PM_{2.5}, volatile organic compounds, nitrogen oxides, or ozone. But this does not mean that

the decision to authorize construction without a full EIS was arbitrary and capricious. Neither Empower’s brief, the complaint, nor the letter attached to the complaint contends that the terminal is likely to produce any such substances at a level that is likely to have a substantial negative impact on the environment. As Stephen Ours, DOEE Chief of Air Quality Permitting testified, it was DOEE’s standard practice to evaluate only CO emissions for a project that does not use diesel fuel. JA 185. Gasoline-fueled school buses would not be expected to produce substantial quantities of other pollutants like PM_{2.5}, sulfur dioxide, ozone, nitrogen dioxide, or lead. JA 185. Moreover, the revised air quality analysis performed in 2022 *did* evaluate the project’s expected PM_{2.5} output and estimated it to be zero. *Air Quality Analysis (Final Submission)* at 24.

Empower also argues (at 17) that the District failed to consider alternatives, such as the use of electric school buses, citing 20 DCMR § 7200.2. But 20 DCMR § 7200.2 does not impose an independent obligation to consider alternatives before approving a permit; it merely notes that the process of preparing an EISF (and, if necessary, an EIS) should begin as early as possible in the planning process “when the widest range of feasible alternatives is open for consideration.” And the relevant decision being challenged is not the decision to use gasoline-fueled buses, but the decision to permit construction of the terminal at 1601 W Street NE to replace the existing terminal already in the neighborhood. Even if the District were not

permitted to construct the new terminal, OSSE will still need to operate its fleet of gasoline-powered school buses to transport the District's students with disabilities. In any event, OSSE is already in the process of transitioning from gasoline-powered to electric school buses, *see supra* at 14, so Empower's proposed "alternative" is already being implemented. That transition in part depends on the infrastructure that will be built at the new W Street terminal, *see supra* at 14, so halting construction on the terminal would only delay the switch to electric buses.

Finally, Empower contends (at 17) that the EISF should have been prepared earlier, prior to approving the construction permit. Although it is not clear from the record, it appears that an EISF was not prepared prior to permit approval because the project was originally misclassified as being within an economic development zone, which would have exempted it from the EISF requirement. *See* 20 DCMR § 7202.2(*l*). Regardless, the EISF now has been prepared, and the 2019 air quality and traffic studies upon which it relied were publicly available during the permitting process. Empower does not identify any environmental concerns identified in the EISF that suggest a permit would not have been granted had the EISF been prepared earlier, making any error harmless. *See Foggy Bottom Ass'n v. D.C. Bd. of Zoning Adjustment*, 791 A.2d 64, 73 n.21 (D.C. 2002) (“[F]ailure to conduct an EIS review before approving an application is harmless error when the subsequent EIS review finds no significant environmental impact.”).

B. Appellants fail to allege a violation of any other law.

The complaint asserts a variety of other legal theories as well, but none states a plausible claim for relief.

DCHRA. The complaint does not state a claim under the DCHRA. The DCHRA applies to allegations of discrimination in (among other contexts) employment, access to public accommodations, and housing. Although one of its provisions, D.C. Code § 2-1402.73, prohibits the District government from “limit[ing] or refus[ing] to provide any facility, service, program, or benefit to any individual” based on a protected characteristic, this provision does not create a general cause of action for enjoining government projects that have a disparate impact on particular neighborhoods. *See Kingman Park Civic Ass’n*, 27 F. Supp. 3d at 166-67 (explaining that the statute prohibits selectively denying benefits to certain persons based on place of residence while providing those benefits to others). Approving a building permit for a school bus terminal is not a “limit[ation] or refus[al]” subject to D.C. Code § 2-1402.73. Indeed, reading the DCHRA to apply to public construction projects would be untenable because all new buildings will disproportionately affect the surrounding neighborhood, potentially running afoul of the prohibition on discrimination based on place of residence.

Even if there were a cause of action that could be implicated here, the complaint does not plausibly allege a disparate impact based on any protected

characteristic. The bus terminal will replace an existing terminal in the same neighborhood less than half a mile away. Because the comparator population (the neighborhood containing the existing terminal) is the same as the allegedly disadvantaged population (the neighborhood containing the new terminal), there can be no disparate impact based on any protected characteristic such as race or place of residence. *Cf. McFarland v. George Wash. Univ.*, 935 A.2d 337, 346-47 (D.C. 2007) (rejecting claim of employment discrimination under DCHRA because favored employee was “a member of the same protected class” as plaintiff, and thus plaintiff had not “rais[ed] an inference of purposeful discrimination”).

ANC Act. The complaint does not state a violation of the ANC Act, which generally requires 30 days’ notice be provided to the local ANC before the District acquires real property or grants a license or permit. D.C. Code § 1-309.10(b)-(c). To sustain a claim based on a failure to provide adequate ANC notice, the complaint must plausibly allege that compliance with the notice requirement likely would have resulted in a different outcome. *See Shiflett v. D.C. Bd. of Appeals & Rev.*, 431 A.2d 9, 11 (D.C. 1981) (failure to provide written notice of permit to ANC was harmless where petitioners failed to show that it was likely the permit would not have been issued had there been compliance with the provision). Here, appellants have never disputed that the local ANC has had actual notice of the project since 2016 and was specifically notified of the building permit application in January 2020, JA 210-12,

a year and a half before the permit was issued in June 2021, JA 188-92. Indeed, any suggestion that the ANC lacked notice is inconsistent with appellants' separate contention that the local ANC expressed its opposition to the project (although the draft resolution attached to the complaint indicating the ANC's opposition is unsigned and undated). *See* JA 89-90.⁷ Despite that alleged opposition, the project has proceeded. And after the construction permit was issued, the Council overwhelmingly defeated a proposed amendment that would have delayed the project. *Supra* at 7-8. Thus, appellants have not plausibly alleged that further written notice to the ANC would have changed the outcome of any decision related to the project.

Open Meeting Requirement. Appellants do not plausibly allege a violation of the open meeting requirement in D.C. Code § 1-207.42. That provision of the Home Rule Act requires government meetings to be open to the public if "official action" is taken. Appellants do not identify any "official action" related to the terminal that was made at a non-public meeting. *See* Br. 31-33 (failing to specify what official

⁷ As part of their request for a preliminary injunction, appellants submitted an affidavit from ANC 5C05 Commissioner Darlene Oliver. JA 121-23. Although that affidavit is outside the pleadings, Ms. Oliver acknowledges that she has been aware of the terminal project since shortly after becoming a commissioner in early 2019. JA 121. Nowhere in the affidavit does she dispute that she was informed of the permit application in January 2020. *See* JA 210 (listing Ms. Oliver among recipients).

action was purportedly taken at a non-public meeting); JA 35 (same). Absent such an allegation, there can be no violation of Section 1-207.42.

Zoning. Appellants appear to have abandoned their zoning-related claim by failing to brief it to this Court. *DC Pres. League v. Mayor's Agent for Historic Pres.*, 236 A.3d 373, 385 (D.C. 2020) (noting that the Court ordinarily does not consider arguments not raised in an opening brief). In any event, the complaint does not allege a violation of any zoning law. *See* JA 35-38.

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